IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2010-CA-01246-SCT

JOSEPH PATRICK BROWN,

Versus

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI,

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Adams County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Oral Argument Requested

James W. Craig (MSB **#400000** Louisiana Capital Assistance Office 636 Baronne Street New Orleans LA 70130 (504) 558-9867 (phone) (504) 558-0378 (fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2010-CA-01246-SCT

JOSEPH PATRICK BROWN,

APPELLANT

Versus

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI,

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ONE: Did the Circuit Court err by not granting the Petitioner's Motion for Rule 22 discovery in this death penalty post-conviction case?

Two: Did the Circuit Court err by finding that Petitioner's trial counsel's failure to secure an expert report and/or expert mental health testimony on mitigating circumstances in Petitioner's capital murder trial did not constitute "deficient performance" under *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) and its progeny?

THREE: Did the Circuit Court err in denying post-conviction relief in this case?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Joseph Patrick Brown ("Mr. Brown" or "Petitioner") was convicted of capital murder and sentenced to death by the Circuit Court of Adams County. His conviction and sentence were affirmed by this Court on direct appeal. *Brown v. State*, 682 So. 2d 340 (Miss. 1996) (*Brown I*). He timely filed his application for post-conviction relief in this Court. The application also requested investigative funding, discovery, and an evidentiary hearing. *See Brown v. State*, 749 So. 2d 82, 86 ¶4 (Miss. 1999) (*Brown II*).

This Court granted the post-conviction application as to Claim F, the failure to secure the assistance of expert testimony in preparing mitigating evidence. *Brown II*, 749 So. 2d at 89-91 ¶¶20-21. This claim was remanded to the Circuit Court of Adams County for an evidentiary hearing. Both of the Circuit Judges in that district recused themselves, and this Court appointed the Hon. Isidore W. Patrick, Jr., Circuit Judge of Warren County, to preside over the hearing.

After the remand, but prior to the hearing, this Court promulgated MISS.R.APP.P. 22(c)(4)(ii) which, required trial counsel and the prosecution to turn over their complete files to post-conviction counsel. Having received no

such discovery, Petitioner moved for an order requiring trial counsel and the State to comply with Rule 22. CP 23. The State opposed the motion and it was not granted. CP 26. Tr.4-5.¹

On March 1, 2004, the Circuit Court conducted an evidentiary hearing on the claim. The Court entered its opinion on November 23, 2009. CP 67. However, neither the State nor Petitioner received notice of this ruling. By motion of April 8, 2010, Petitioner asked leave to re-open the time to file notice of appeal. CP. 72. The State confessed this motion, and it was granted on July 23, 2010. CP. 125. That same day, Petitioner filed his Supplemental Notice of Appeal. CP. 123.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner's trial counsel, Pamela Farrington and Donald Ogden, moved that Mr. Brown be evaluated at the Mississippi State Hospital at Whitfield for purposes of determining whether there existed mitigating evidence as set forth in MISS. CODE ANN. §99-19-101(6). The Circuit Court granted this motion. Ex. 1-A. The Order granting the motion stated:

> The evaluation to be conducted shall be for the purposes of development of mitigation evidence, including, but not limited to, all statutory mitigating

¹ The Court reporter erroneously has the Court recounting its ruling on a motion "by the State," but there was no such motion.

factors as defined in the Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-19-101 (1983).

Id.

On February 10, 1994, Ms. Farrington wrote the staff at the Mississippi State Hospital and enclosed the Court Order. Tr. 51-52; Ex. 1-B. Trial counsel knew that the following mitigation evidence, at a minimum, was potentially available:

- That Mr. Brown had a troubled childhood history, including that his father died in his youth and that his mother had killed a man;
- That Mr. Brown's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his condict was impaired by his drug use and dysfunctional childhood;
- That Mr. Brown was under the substantial domination of Rachael Walker, the co-defendant;
- That the evidence against Mr. Brown as the shooter was weak; and
- That Mr. Brown could be sentenced as an habitual offender, thus giving the jury notice that any life sentence would be served without the possibility of parole.²

Tr. 53 (Ms. Farrington); Tr. 57 (Mr. Ogden).

It was unusual for the State Hospital to be appointed specifically to

study mitigating factors in a death penalty case. Tr. 9. Ninety-five percent of

their examinations were to determine whether the defendant was competent

² The alleged offense was committed before the 1994 amendments to the Mississippi Code which required a sentence of life imprisonment in a capital murder case to be served without parole.

to stand trial; only five percent were to assess mitigation evidence in a capital case. Tr. 48.

The State Hospital did not do any formal psychological testing of Mr. Brown. Tr. 12. Dr. Criss Lott, Ph.D., instead conducted an interview with Petitioner. Tr. 47. Ms. Farrington was present for the interview. Tr. 10-11. Dr. Lott recognized that the death of Mr. Brown's father during Mr. Brown's childhood had been a major disruption in Petitioner's life, Tr. 25, 27 – indeed at age eight, Petitioner was observed to be sucking his thumb when discussing this event with Louisiana authorities. Ex. 1-I. Dr. Lott was also aware of Mr. Brown's history of drug use. Tr. 32-34.

Dr. Lott understood that there were indications that Mr. Brown had a low average intelligence of about 83. Tr. 40. He conceded that, because there was some question regarding whether Mr. Brown was under the substantial domination of Ms. Walker, the difference in intelligence between the two would be relevant. Tr. 30, 41.

Also, there were indications that Mr. Brown had suffered two automobile accidents, and had manifested seizure-like symptoms after that. Tr. 20-24. However, Dr. Lott testified that, as a medical issue, any follow up

regarding what the seizures could indicate was in Dr. McMichael's purview. Tr. 48.

After the initial interview of Mr. Brown, Dr. Lott and Ms. Farrington discussed the case. Tr. 13. This included a "mitigation diagnosis." *Id*. But De. Lott also warned that the presentation of mitigation posed a risk of opening the door for evidence that he considered detrimental to Mr. Brown. Tr. 45.

Dr. McMichael did not have a strong recollection of this case. He did, however, remember that he reviewed the documents collected by the State Hospital staff and trial counsel. Tr. 68. He also remembered meeting with Dr. Lott and Ms. Farrington. Tr. 73. He thought that doing further work "would not have been helpful to the defendant." Tr. 68.

Although Dr. McMichael did not recall the analysis he made of the Brown case in 1994, he did give his opinion about available mitigation evidence from his more recent review of the State Hospital's file. Dr. McMichael found no statutory mitigating factors to be present. He did, however, "answer[] in the affirmative things that we would sometimes list as non-statutory mental health circumstances." Tr. 70. Those mitigating circumstances included:

• Mr. Brown's parents were never married;

- His parents separated when he was seven or eight years old;
- His mother reportedly shot a half-sibling's father when Mr. Brown was five or six years old;
- Mr. Brown's stepfather abused alcohol;
- Mr. Brown's biological father died during Brown's childhood;
- Mr. Brown was struck by a car at age thirteen;
- He had a history of conduct disorder problems in adolescence;
- He had a history of substance abuse including alcohol, marijuana and cocaine; and
- He was probably using cocaine around the time of the alleged offense.

Tr. 70-71.

Dr. McMichael also testified about the "potential detrimental factors" that, in his view, could have been used by the State against Mr. Brown, had the State Hospital generated a report on the mitigating circumstances set forth above. Tr. 71-72. These factors included:

- a prior criminal history dating back to when Mr. Brown was a juvenile;
- an unadjudicated allegation of prior use of a firearm in criminal activity;
- evidence that Brown was a major participant in the pending case;

- that the victim in the pending case had been killed to conceal a crime;
- that the victim in the pending case was shot a number of times;
- that Brown had been using or attempting to use drugs just before the offense in the pending case was committed;
- that some of the money from the offense in the pending case had been used to buy drugs;
- that Brown was "into one thing or another" as a juvenile;
- that Brown escaped subsequent to the offense.
- Tr. 72.

Ms. Farrington remembers being told at Whitfield "that any report that would be generated from the interview and the testing that was done would be more harmful than beneficial to our client." Tr. 53. She did not remember any more specific details about this, beyond "that we had discussed the mitigation factors that we were looking for. It is my recollection that it was very little in the way of mitigation. There was some, but not enough to offset any harm that might come from the report being generated." Tr. 53. Mr. Ogden concurred. Tr. 62.

Based on this, Ms. Farrington testified that "Mr. Ogden and I together made the decision not to ask the report to be generated." Tr. 53.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE: Rule 22 had been promulgated after this Court's remand for an evidentiary hearing in Brown II. After Circuit Judge Patrick was appointed as Special Judge, Petitioner sought the benefit of Rule 22. It was error for the Circuit Court to deny Petitioner's Rule 22 discovery motion. *Russell v. State*, 819 So. 2d 1177, 1180 ¶¶9-10 (Miss. 2001). Without the benefit of the discovery, it is impossible to gauge the prejudicial effect of the denial of Petitioner's motion – thus the denial of discovery cannot be deemed harmless. *Dawkins v. Redd Pest Control, Inc.*, 607 So. 2d 1232, 1236 (Miss. 1992).

ISSUES TWO AND THREE:

It is well-established that defense counsel's failure to investigate and present the basis of his client's mitigation defense constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel. *Sears v. Upton*, 130 S. Ct. 3259, 3262 (2010); *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447, 454 (2009); *Rompilla v. Beard*, 545 U.S. 374 (2005); *Williams v Taylor*, 529 U.S. 362 (2000); *Lockett v. Anderson*, 230 F.3d 695, 710 (5th Cir. 2000). This Court will reverse a Circuit Court's post-conviction ruling that counsel was not ineffective, and render judgment for the petitioner on appeal, where such a claim was not correctly adjudicated below. *Doss v. State*, 19 So. 3d 690 (Miss. 2009). This Court also takes seriously the principle that "an attorney's lapse must be viewed in light of the nature and seriousness of the charges and the potential penalty." *Id.* at ¶9, citing *Ross v. State* 954 So.2d 968, 1004 (Miss. 2007).

It was objectively reasonable for trial counsel to forego a report and testimony from the State Hospital doctors on the mental health mitigation set forth in the Statement of Facts above. Both trial counsel and the doctors testified that the decision was made so that the door would not be opened to the "detrimental evidence" in the records.

That, however, was a false dilemma, for two reasons. First, . it is counsel's duty, not the experts', to determine whether potential mitigation evidence should be investigated and presented in the sentencing phase of a capital case. Thus, this Court has found that a defense attorney in a capital case performed deficiently under *Strickland* where counsel failed to properly utilize the State Hospital, as appointed defense experts, in developing mitigation evidence. *Ross, supra*.

Second, that the potential mitigation is potentially "double-edged" -that is, includes **some** negative aspect that can be used against the defendant – does not make the decision to forego further investigation a reasonable

strategic choice. Much of the mitigating evidence that trial counsel failed to develop or present in *Sears, Porter, Rompilla, Wiggins* and *Williams* could similarly be deemed "double edged," but this did not prevent the Supreme Court from finding that counsel was deficient for failing to investigate and present this evidence.

And in *Sears*, the Supreme Court went even further, teaching that "adverse" aspects of a defendant's mental health evidence can actually help the jury understand the context of the defendant's actions and thus shape their view of his culpability, saying "[t]his evidence might not have made Sears any more likable to the jury, but it might well have helped the jury understand Sears, and his horrendous acts. *See Sears*, 130 S. Ct. at 3264.

This Court utilized the same approach in *Woodward v. State*, 635 So. 2d 805 (Miss. 1993), holding that it was unreasonable for trial counsel to forego presentation of evidence of mitigating circumstances through expert testimony due to fear of opening the door to "bad character" evidence. The same is true here. Counsels' decision not to pursue the mitigation evidence identified by the State Hospital was not a reasonable strategic decision. The Circuit Court erred in finding otherwise.

In Mississippi, the jury must be unanimous in order to sentence a capital defendant to death. Thus if this Court concludes that even one juror would have concluded that the death penalty was not an appropriate penalty in this case based on the mitigating evidence set forth above. then prejudice will have been established. *See Lockett, supra*, 230 F.3d at 716; *see also Neal v. Puckett*, 286 F.3d 230, 241 (5th Cir. 2002) (en banc) (same). Petitioner Brown clearly meets this standard.

LAW AND ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE: JOSEPH BROWN, AS A DEATH-SENTENCED PETITIONER, IS ENTITLED TO DISCOVERY UNDER MISS.R.APP.P. 22(C)

Mr. Brown's original Application for Leave was filed in this Court on March 17, 1998. The application specifically requested investigative funding, discovery, and an evidentiary hearing. *Brown II*, 749 So. 2d at 86 ¶4.

This Court's decision remanding the case for hearing was rendered on November 4, 1999. The decision specifically allowed Mr. Brown to seek discovery from the Circuit Court. *Brown II*, 749 So. 2d at 93 ¶29.

The next year, July 22, 2000, this Court revised MISS.R.APP.P. 22. One of the revisions created new Rule 22(c)(4)(ii), which provided for discovery without the necessity of filing any motion for same:

Upon appointment of counsel, or the determination that the petitioner is represented by private counsel the petitioner's prior trial and appellate counsel shall make available to the petitioner's post-conviction counsel their complete files relating to the conviction and sentence. The State, to the extent allowed by law, shall make available to post-conviction counsel the complete files of all law enforcement and prosecutorial agencies involved in the investigation of the crimes committed and the prosecution of the petitioner. Both Circuit Judges in the district recused themselves, and this Court appointed the Honorable Isadore W. Patrick, Jr., as Special Judge in this case. After Judge Patrick's appointment, Petitioner filed a motion seeking Rule 22 discovery prior to the evidentiary hearing mandated by this Court. CP 23. The State opposed the motion and it was not granted. CP 26. Tr.4-5.³

The Circuit Court's failure to grant the discovery motion was error. This Court has held that Rule 22 is to be enforced, if necessary by compulsory process. *Russell v. State*, 819 So. 2d 1177, 1180 ¶¶9-10 (Miss. 2001).

In the Court below, the State faulted Petitioner's counsel for not seeking discovery earlier. This was a specious argument. In the first place, Rule 22(c)(4)(ii) is self-executing. The State and prior defense counsel should have, on their own initiative, provided Petitioner with their complete files. Secondly, as the motion for discovery asserted, Judge Patrick had only been recently appointed to the case. There had previously been no judge who could have ruled on any motion for discovery.

This Court has held that the dismissal of a claim in the absence of an opportunity for discovery is reversible error:

³ The Court reporter erroneously has the Court recounting its ruling on a motion "by the State," but there was no such motion.

It was error for the trial court to have dismissed such accusations as lacking evidence when the plaintiffs presented the best evidence available to them, and they were not allowed an opportunity to obtain further information in an effort to validate their assertions. Therefore, the combination of a complete lack of an opportunity for discovery and the absence of an answer by the defendants precludes summary judgment at this time.

Sullivan v. Tullos, 19 So. 3d 1271, 1277 ¶25 (Miss. 2009). The erroneous

denial of discovery cannot be harmless error, since without the discovery,

there is no way to determine the prejudicial effect of the error:

Erroneous denial of discovery is ordinarily prejudicial in the absence of circumstances showing it is harmless. Here, since we cannot determine from the record whether the requested documents might have changed the result in this trial, we cannot say the error was harmless.

Dawkins v. Redd Pest Control, Inc., 607 So. 2d 1232, 1236 (Miss. 1992).

Because Petitioner Brown was denied Rule 22 discovery, this Court

should vacate the Circuit Court's order and remand this case for enforcement

of Rule 22 and a new evidentiary hearing.

ISSUE TWO AND THREE: THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT TRIAL COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS NOT DEFICIENT

A. General Principles

This Court is familiar with the two-part test for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, a convicted defendant making a claim of ineffective assistance must identify the acts or omissions of counsel that are alleged not to have been the result of reasonable professional judgment. Second, the defendant must show that the acts or omissions charged prejudiced his defense; i.e. the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); *Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510 (2003). *See Lockett v. Anderson*, 230 F.3d 695, 710 (5th Cir. 2000).

As the Fifth Circuit stated in *Lockett*, "[i]t is clear that defense counsel's failure to investigate the basis of his client's mitigation defense can amount to ineffective assistance of counsel. *See, e.g., Williams v Taylor,* 529 U.S. 362, 120 S. Ct. 1495 (2000). When considering a failure to investigate claim the Supreme Court has said, "counsel has a duty to make reasonable

investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary." *Id.* at 711, *quoting Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691."

In Williams v. Taylor, cited by the Lockett Court, the United States Supreme Court analyzed the "deficient performance" prong of Strickland in the context of the duty of counsel in a death penalty case to investigate and present mitigation evidence at the sentencing phase of the trial. The Supreme Court concluded that the petitioner's "constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel" had been violated and that the Virginia Supreme Court, in reviewing Williams' post-conviction claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, had "failed to accord appropriate weight to the body of mitigation evidence available to trial counsel." Williams, 120 S.Ct. at 1516. Importantly, the Supreme Court stated that the state supreme court had "failed to evaluate the totality of the available mitigation evidence-both that adduced at trial, and the evidence adduced in the post-conviction proceeding-in re-weighing it against the evidence in aggravation." Id. at 1515 (emphasis added).

With the evidence properly considered, it was clear that trial counsel had "failed to conduct an investigation that would have uncovered extensive records graphically describing Williams' nightmarish childhood," *id.* at 1514, had failed to look into prison records which would have contained evidence to

assist the jury in the sentencing phase, and had failed to talk to and call witnesses which would have testified in Williams' favor at the sentencing hearing. *Id.*

The deficient performance prong of the *Strickland* standard was also at issue in *Wiggins v. Smith*, 123 S. Ct. 2527 (2003). The *Wiggins* Court reversed a Fourth Circuit decision that rejected the petitioner's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel based on counsel's failure to investigate the petitioner's background for mitigation purposes. In *Wiggins*, defense counsel conducted at least **some** amount of investigation into petitioner's background for mitigation purposes. Testing by a psychologist revealed, among other things, that the petitioner had an IQ of 79. *Id.* at 2536. Counsel for the petitioner in *Wiggins* also had a written PSI that contained a brief "personal history[.]" *Id.* That document gave some indication of a troubled childhood. *Id.* Based on these two sources, defense counsel for petitioner decided not to conduct further investigation. *Id.*

The state court in *Wiggins* had rejected the petitioner's ineffectiveness claim "because counsel had *some* information with respect to petitioner's background . . . they were in a position to make a tactical choice not to present a mitigation defense. *Wiggins,* at 2538. The U.S. Supreme Court rejected that

. 19

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