IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

JOSEPH PATRICK BROWN,

Appellant

versus

NO. 2010-CA-01246-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI,

Appellee

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Adams County, Mississippi No. 04-KV-0020-P

JIM HOOD ATTORNEY GENERAL STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MARVIN L. WHITE, JR.
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Miss. Bar # Counsel of Record

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL Post Office Box 220 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 (601) 359-3680

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner's assertion that he was denied discovery is without merit. Petitioner was not entitled to discovery under Rule 22. Rule 22 discovery is pre-petition discovery. Discovery after this Court has granted an evidentiary hearing is governed by MISS. CODE ANN. § 99-39-15. Even if Rule 22, does apply petitioner failed to avail himself of the provisions of that rule. He is incorrect in his argument that the state and trial counsel must copy and furnish all of their files to post-conviction without so much as a request. Rule 22 only states that prior counsel and the State "shall make available" the files. Brown never made any request of either the State or prior counsel for the records he asserts he was entitled to have in the three and a half years between the promulgation of Rule 22 and five days prior

to the evidentiary hearing in this case when he filed a motion for Rule 22 discovery. This was nothing more that a clear attempt to delay the evidentiary hearing in this case as the neither contents of prior counsel's files nor the law enforcement and prosecution filed had any impact on the question before the trial court. Admitting that if Rule 22 applies in the procedural posture of this case, it requires prior counsel and the State to make the files available Brown on request. However, Brown has made no attempt in the seven (7) years since the evidentiary hearing to obtain these records by simply requesting them. Brown has not demonstrated that he was prejudiced in any manner by the denial of his motion for discovery made five days prior to the evidentiary hearing in this case.

The trial court found from the evidence introduced at the evidentiary hearing that the decision not to have a report of Brown's evaluation at the State Hospital at Whitfield issued was a strategic decision made because of the unfavorable information that would be contained in that report. In addition, the trial court found that the failure to introduce any of the information obtained by the evaluation at the State Hospital was also a strategic decision made after discussing the matter with the doctors who performed the evaluation and being informed that there would be a lot of information that would be harmful to Brown contained in the report and in any testimony that they gave.

Counsel cannot be found to be ineffective when they make a strategic decision not to introduce information that is of a double-edged nature. Brown failed to demonstrate that counsel's performance was deficient and the trial court so held. That holding is not clearly

erroneous nor against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

IV. ARGUMENT

I. PETITIONER'S BELATED MOTION WAS PROPERLY DENIED.

Petitioner contends that the trial court erred in denying his motion for discovery. Looking to the November 4, 1999, opinion in *Brown v. State*, 749 So.2d 82 (Miss. 1999), we find the holding of this Court on a single issue of the ineffective assistance of counsel being remanded for a hearing. The Court held:

¶21. The record shows that the trial court granted a defense motion to have Brown evaluated at the Mississippi State Hospital specifically for the purpose of developing mitigating evidence pursuant to MISS. CODE ANN. § 99-19-101(6) (1994). Defense counsel reported, however, "The Defendant was evaluated at Whitfield for the purposes of mitigation defense. On the basis that the staff at Whitfield could not assist in any mitigation defense, no written reports were ever submitted." There is no further elaboration in the record as to whether there was no favorable evidence to be adduced or whether the State Hospital refused to prepare a report. It cannot be said what weight, if any, a juror might have given to such a report had one been prepared and submitted. Sawyer v. Whitley, 505 U.S. 333, 348, 112 S.Ct. 2514, 120 L.Ed.2d 269 (1992). It is entirely possible that favorable mitigating evidence of Brown's mental state might not have outweighed the aggravating circumstances in the jurors' minds, but such an opportunity was never afforded them. The very purpose of mitigation is to reveal evidence that the defendant is not as bad a person as might be believed from the evidence introduced at the guilt phase of the trial. Eddmonds v. Peters, 93 F.3d 1307, 1321 (7th Cir. 1996). In the present case, the trial court ordered a mental evaluation but no report was ever produced. It has been held that consideration of all relevant mitigating evidence is required at the sentencing phase because the imposition of the death sentence should reflect a reasoned, moral response to the defendant's background and character and the crime. Russell v. Collins, 998 F.2d 1287, 1291 (5th Cir. 1993). Brown should be allowed to present this issue to the trial court for a determination of whether trial counsel was ineffective in failing to seek other expert assistance when the State Hospital examination

produced no report and whether such inaction resulted in any prejudice to his case at sentencing.

749 So.2d at 90-91.

At the conclusion of the opinion we find the ultimate holding of the Court as it concerns this Court. The Court held:

¶ 29. The application for post-conviction relief is granted in part only as to the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to seek an independent mental evaluation. The ancillary requests for investigative funds, discovery and an evidentiary hearing should be filed in the trial court. In all other respects, the application is denied.

749 So.2d at 93. [Emphasis added.]

Thus, the issue before the trial court was singular, whether trial counsel failed to obtain and use the results of the testing and evaluation conducted by the State Hospital at Whitfield in mitigation during the sentence phase of the trial.

On January 15, 2004, the State received a notice from this Court, dated January 14, 2004, setting March 1, 2004, as the date for the evidentiary hearing in this case. In response to the January 15, 2004, notice of the hearing, the State made contact with the district attorney and the Mississippi State Hospital at Whitfield. The State then requested an order from the trial court for the release of the records of the examination conducted on Brown on February 22, 1994, prior to the original trial of this case. In the proposed order presented to the trial court the State was careful to make sure that Brown's counsel would be furnished copies of the Whitfield material. In preparation for this hearing, the State issued subpoenas for both of Brown's trial counsel, Donald Ogden, Esquire, and Pamela Ferrington, Esquire.

In addition, the State has also issued subpoenas for Dr. Reb McMichael, M.D, a psychiatrist and Director of Forensic Services at the Mississippi State Hospital at Whitfield and Dr. Criss Lott, PhD., former staff psychologist at the Forensic Unit at the State Hospital and now Director of the Counseling Center at St. Dominic's Hospital in Jackson. Both of these doctors had to make alterations in their schedules in order to be present in Natchez, Mississippi, on March 1, 2004.

Further, the State was informed by the Court Administrator, Brenda Williams, that the Court has issued an order to have Brown transported to Natchez for this March 1, 2004, evidentiary hearing.

On Thursday, February 26, 2004, five days before the scheduled evidentiary hearing, the State received the a pleading entitled Motion for Rule 22 Discovery Order. The prayer for relief in this motion by petitioner requested the trial court to enter an order:

- (A) requiring prior defense counsel, Pamela Ferrington and Donald Ogden, to make their complete files regarding Joseph Patrick Brown available to Petitioner's current counsel within thirty days from the date of the Court's Order; and
- (B) requiring the State to make available to Petitioner's current counsel, within thirty days from the date of the Court's Order, the complete files of all law enforcement and prosecutorial agencies involved in the investigation of the crimes committed and the prosecution of the petitioner.

C.P at 23-25.

However, counsel for Brown, James W. Craig, Esquire, filed no request for a continuance of the evidentiary hearing.

Later on February 26, 2004, the State filed a response to this motion pointing out that Rule 22, was a pre-petition vehicle for discovery and that discovery prior to a granted evidentiary hearing was controlled by the provisions of MISS. CODE ANN. § 99-39-15, and further that the items requested in the discovery motion were not required for the issue before the trial court.

While there is no order in this record before this Court that the trial court denied the motion for discovery, counsel for appellant contends that the at the bottom of page 4 and the top of page 5 of the record is the evidence of the denial of the motion. The record states:

THE COURT: ... We have the State represented by Mr. White. The motion is – there was also filed by the State. The Court heard preliminary arguments on the motion. I told both – last Friday – and I told both sides of the Court – made some preliminary rulings, and we would go forward with this hearing today on the issue that this Court was especially appointed to hear.

Tr. 4-5.

Counsel for the State has no independent recollection of any discussions with the Court on the Friday prior to the evidentiary hearing in this case or the subject of any such discussion. However, the record seems to indicate there was some type of preliminary discussion. For the sake of this argument the State will assume that the trial court overruled the motion. However, petitioner had a duty to have the ruling of the trial court memorialized by an order and failed to do so. Therefore, we have no indication of the reasons the trial court gave for denying the motion. Therefore, it appears that appellant has failed to present a record that is sufficient for a ruling to be made on this claim.

Further, the State would assert that Brown's requests discovery under M.R.A.P. 22 was belated. The State would assert that he is not entitled to discovery under Rule 22. Rule 22 is a tool to obtain discovery prior to the filing of an application for post-conviction relief with this Court. This post-conviction case was remanded to the Circuit Court for an evidentiary hearing on a single issue under the authority of MISS. CODE ANN. § 99-39-27 (7), which reads:

- (7) In granting the application the court, in its discretion, may:
- (a) Where sufficient facts exist from the face of the application, motion, exhibits, the prior record and the state's response, together with any exhibits submitted therewith, or upon stipulation of the parties, grant or deny any or all relief requested in the attached motion.
- (b) Allow the filing of the motion in the trial court for further proceedings under Sections 99-39-13 through 99-39-23. [Emphasis added.]

The discovery provisions of the above noted statutes are found in MISS. CODE ANN. § 99-39-15, and apply to discovery after remand for an evidentiary hearing in this Court. Section 99-39-15, reads:

- (1) A party may invoke the processes of discovery available under the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure or elsewhere in the usages and principles of law if, and to the extent that, the judge in the exercise of his discretion and for good cause shown grants leave to do so, but not otherwise.
- (2) Requests for discovery shall be accomplished by a statement of the interrogatories or requests for admission and a list of the documents, if any, sought to be produced. [Emphasis added.]

The inclusion of the language "but not otherwise" in subsection (1) of § 99-39-15, makes it clear that this statute, not Rule 22, applies to a case in the procedural posture of the one at

bar. Thus, Brown was entitled to discovery under the provisions of § 99-39-15 the trial court may grant or deny such request in the exercise of its discretion, "but not otherwise."

When we look to the purpose of Rule 22, we find that it was created to fill the void left by the discovery provisions found in § 99-39-15. In order to obtain discovery under § 99-39-15, a post-conviction petitioner had no way to invoke discovery prior to the filing of a post-conviction application. The Court, after its decision in *Jackson v. State*, 732 So.2d 187 (Miss.,1999), providing for the appointment of counsel for death sentenced post-conviction petitioners, created this tool in order that discovery could be had prior to the filing of a post-conviction application with this Court. That was the purpose of the limited remand found in Rule 22, to appoint counsel, allow discovery, and provide funds for investigative and expert assistance.

The State's position in this regards is borne out by the decision in *Russell v. State*, 819 So.2d 1177 (Miss. 2001). Looking to *Russell*, we find the Court speaking of Rule 22 in terms of assistance **prior** to the filing of an application for post-conviction relief, **not after**. In fact, Brown appears to have admitted this in his motion filed with the Circuit Court. In his motion he states:

5. During the time since the Petitioner originally sought discovery, the Mississippi Supreme Court promulgated Miss. R.C.P. 22(c)(4)(ii). That rule requires, prior to filing Petitioner's original application in the supreme court:

C.P. at 24.

He then recites the language from Rule 22 requiring that prior counsel and the state to "make

available" their files.

This Court quoted from Judge Gray Evans' response to the motion for extraordinary relief noting that he set forth the problem faced by the Court in that case. Judge Evans response stated:

... Although the State's Attorney takes great umbrage at this Court granting Petitioner any discovery, it only stands to reason that a Petitioner would need access to some information and documentation before he is able to properly form his potential legal claims.

In the case at bar, the Supreme Court ordered this Court to appoint counsel for Petitioner and to grant him investigative assistance. Surely the Court did not go through the trouble of granting Petitioner an attorney and investigative assistance if it intended to foreclose any real opportunity to produce a meaningful, complete petition. The Circuit Court in this case must be allowed to grant some initial discovery. Absent this authority, appointment of counsel and investigative assistance would be meaningless.

819 So.2d at 1178-1179, ¶ 5. [Emphasis added.]

Clearly, the Court in quoting from Judge Evans' response was setting forth the parameters of discovery **prior** to the filing of an application for post-conviction relief. The Court concluded that Russell was entitled to discovery in order to prepare his application for post-conviction relief. 891 So.2d at 1180, ¶ 9. The application in this case was filed with this Court by Brown and was acted on by this Court. Therefore, any discovery in the post-remand posture must be accomplished under the statutory provisions found in § 99-39-15.

The State would also assert that the limited question remanded for hearing in this case did not require the production of the "complete files of all law enforcement and prosecutorial agencies involved in the investigation of the crimes committed and the prosecution" of

Brown. The question remanded to the trial court was whether Brown received ineffective assistance of counsel during the sentence phase of his trial when defense counsel failed to produce mental health mitigation evidence. This was the only question before the Court and the State would assert that Brown has no need for the complete investigative and prosecutorial files in this case. The State had no role in the decision of whether defense counsel chose not to put on certain evidence during the sentence phase of this case. The State would assert that the complete law enforcement investigative and prosecution files were not pertinent or necessary to the limited inquiry before the trial court.

Assuming only for the sake of this argument that Rule 22 applies in a case in this procedural posture State would assert that Brown's reading of the rule is flawed. Petitioner contends that Rule 22 is "self executing" and that the State and prior defense counsel "should have, on their own initiative, provided Petitioner with their complete files." Brf. at 15. Petitioner relies on the provisions of Rule 22(c)(4)(ii) to make this assertion. Rule 22(c)(4)(ii) reads:

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